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UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT

FOR THE WESTERN DISTRICT OF NORTH CAROLINA
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Plaintiff, Deborah Sumlin, by her attorneys, makes the following allegations

based upon knowledge with respect to her own acts and based upon information and

belief with respect to other matters:

INTRODUCTION

1. This action is brought by the Plaintiff on behalf of herself and two proposed

classes of persons who purchased services from Defendants Credit Alliance

Group lnc. and Credit Alliance Services, Inc. Defendants are "credit repair

organizations" that operate in violation of the federal Credit Repair Organizations

Act t"CROA"j 15 U.S.C. g 1679 et seq.,"credit repair businesses" that operate in

violation of North Carolina's Credit Repair Services Act, N.C. Gen Stat g 66-220

et seq.; and operate in violation of the North Carolina Unfair and Deceptive Trade

Practices Act.

JURISDICTION AND VENUE

2. This Court has original jurisdiction over this action pursuant to 28 U.S.C. $1331

(federal question jurisdiction), and 28 U.S.C. $1367 (supplemental jurisdiction),

and subject matter jurisdiction of the state claims pursuant to 28 U.S.C. g

1332(d)(2)(A) (diversity of citizenship).

3. Venue is proper in this district because it is the district in which the Plaintiff

resides and where the Defendant advertises, solicits, and conducts business.

PARTIES

4. Plaintiff Deborah Sumlin is a resident of Charlotte, North Carolina. She entered

into an agreement with Defendant Credit Alliance Group, lnc. in July of 2009 in

order to maintain and improve her credit record, credit history and credit rating.
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5. Defendant Credit Alliance Group, Incorporated is a for-profit corporation

organized under the laws of the state of Texas, is authorized to do business in

North Carolina, and maintains its principal place of business in Texas at 1717

Main Street, Suite 5800, Dallas, Texas 75201 and whose registered agent is

Shane Garner.

6. Defendant Credit. Alliance Services, Incorporated is a for-profit corporation

organized under the laws of the state of Texas, is authorized to do business in

North Carolina, and maintains its principal place of business in Texas at 1717

Main Street, Suite 5800, Dallas, Texas 75201 and whose registered agent is

Shane Garner. Credit Alliance Services, Inc. is the successor in interest to

Defendant, Credit Alliance Group, Incorporated.

FACTUAL BACKGROUND

7. The Defendants, Credit Alliance Group Inc., and Credit Alliance Services, Inc.

thereinafter collectively referred to as "CAG" or "Defendants" unless otherwise

specifiedt are credit repair organizations within the meaning of 15 U.S.C.

1679(a)(3) and credit repair businesses within ihe meaning of N.C. Gen Stat.

g66-221(1). CAG has at all relevant times purported to dispense advice,

assistance and educational services with regard to improving, repairing or

correcting consumers credit records, credit histories, and credit ratings.

8. CAG at all relevant times, used instrumentalities of intersiate commerce,

including the Internet, broadcast, cable and satellite television and/or the mail to

sell, provide, or perform (or represent that they could or would sell, provide or

perform) services, in return for the payment of money or other valuable
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consideration, for the express or implied purpose of: 1) improving, repairing or

correcting a consumer's credit record, credit history, or credit rating; and/or 2)

providing advice or assistance to any consumer with regard to any activity or

service described in clause 1.

9. Defendants sold, provided or performed, in return for the payment of money, or

other valuable consideration from their clients, credit repair services as that term

is defined in the federal Credit Repair Organizations Act ["CROA
*'
] and the North

Carolina Credit Repair Services Act ["CRSA"] as well as services to educate

consumers concerning credit matters, personal finances and financial practices.

In particular, they delivered written materials to consumers which purported to

support or constitute financial literary education.

A. The Website.

10. Defendants own, operate and maintain a website, CreditAllianceGroup.net, ["the

website"] through which Defendants provide credit-related services to

consumers.

11. The Website provides access to multiple pages.

12. The Website states: "Understanding Your Money: Whether you have

complimentary consultation via telephone, or in person, one of our Senior Credit

Officers will be able to evaluate your current financial standing using our

Financial Disclosure Form. This will allow us to accurately determine which of

our programs will best suit your needs and budget.."

13. Defendants' Website also contains the following "frequently asked questions"

("FAQs") page that includes the following representations and explanations:
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How would a Financial Hardship Program affect my credit?

Part of our negotiation process is to request that creditors reflect your
accounts as having been paid or having been settled, with zero balances.
One assessment factor that creditors use in evaluating an individual's or
entities credit-worthiness is their debt-to-income ratio: the amount of debt
compared to income. As a Financial Hardship Program reduces your debt,
your debt-to-income raiio will improve. Additionally, attempting to resolve a
debt through settlement is looked upon more favorably than f i ling
bankruptcy. Our programs do and will affect your credit but we put you in a

position where you can and will be able to rebuild once completed with the
program. Doing anything other than paying your bills on time every month
could adversely affect your credit rating or cause legal action to include
being sued, liens, judgments, etc.

Why shouldn't I just file bankruptcy?

Many people faced with financial hardship rush to bankruptcy as a method
of resolving their debt concerns, although their problems might have other
solutions. We believe bankruptcy should ONLY be used as a LAST
RESORT; pursued ONLY after all other debt relief remedies have been
explored. A bankruptcy filing is a very detrimental entry on your credit
history, and can remain on your credit reports from 7 to 10 years after the
bankruptcy filing has been discharged as well as it follows you for the rest

of your life. For job applications, buying a home, or for any federal
paperwork they always ask if you have ever filed bankruptcy. Then you
have to reply with a yes if you did or you would then be committing a
crime.

How long will it take to settle my debts?

The time required io settle your debt depends upon your situation.
However if you are saving all of your funds from your first payment
towards a settlement on your lowest balance account first. So it will
depend on the balances of your accounts and creditor profile enrolled.
One of our Credit Specialists can provide you an estimate during your free
consultation. Most clients are able to settle all their debts within 6 to 36
months.

14. Defendants' Website also contains the following "frequently asked questions"

("FAQs") page which includes the following:

If you are tired of living paycheck to paycheck, with all of your money
going io c redit cards and unsecured bills; contact us f o r :..~ Free

Consultation. A Senior Credit Specialist will walk you through how our
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Financial Hardship Programs work. Here at Credit Alliance Group™, we
believe that together, we will help you put this credit. card debt behind you
forever, so you can move forward in life.

15. The Website "FAQs" page includes an answer to the question "What are the fees

for your service, and when are they due?" The Website's answer to the question

represents that the Defendant does not collect any fees until they settle an

account. This statement is false and misleading.

16. Defendants' Website also contains the following "SERVICES" page that includes

the following representations and explanations under the sub-heading "How It

Works" and the banner "What. is a Financial Hardship Program?":

While enrolled in ANY Financial Hardship Program, your accounts will go
delinquent or continue to go delinquent if you are already behind. Plain
and Simple: Your creditors WILL NOT negotiate an account that is current.

These delinquent or late payments and possible future "charge-offs" will
reflect negatively on your credit report and drop your overall credit rating.
Again, if you can make your payments... a Financial Hardship Program IS
NOT the program for you! Clients who are already behind or are about to
fall behind and cannot continue to make their payments but want to
salvage their credit scores need to realize a few things:

1. Doing nothing will add to their overall debt and credit rating woes.
1. By missing payments or making partial payments, consumers are

doing the same negative damage to their credit report that a

Financial Hardship Program would.
2. The only way to ever begin rebuilding your already damaged or

soon to be damaged credit is to deal with the debt that is causing
your credit to drop as we speak.

17. The services described in the foregoing paragraphs were provided, sold or

performed for the implied or express purpose of advising and assisting

consumers with regard to improving, repairing or correcting their credit records,

credit ratings or credit histories.
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18. The Defendant's Website is unfair, deceptive and misleading in that the Website

represents that they do not collect any fees prior to performing services for the

Plaintiff and Class Members.

19. The Website between CAG and Plaintiff and Class Members is unfair, deceptive

and misleading in that the Website fails to clearly and reasonably advise

customers thai: the program offered by CAG will have a negative impact on

clients and a negative impact on credit reports.

20. The Website between CAG and Plaintiff and Class Members is unfair, deceptive

and misleading in that the Website fails to clearly or reasonably advise Plaintiff

and Class Members that CAG will not make payments to creditors until adequate

funds exist in the "escrow account" to begin settlement negotiations.

21. The Website between CAG and Plaintiff and Class Members is unfair, deceptive

and misleading in that the Website fails to clearly and reasonably advise Plaintiff

and Class Members that, upon information and belief, the "FDIC insured escrow

account" is an account held under CAG's control and accrues interest going to

the benefit of CAG, rather than Plaintiff or the Class Members.

22. The Website between CAG and Plaintiff and Class Members is unfair, deceptive

and misleading because upon information and belief, the representations made

with respect to past results CAG has achieved for previous customers fail to

include customers who had dropped out of or failed to complete the program.

23. The Website between CAG and Plaintiff and Class Members is unfair, deceptive

and misleading because upon information and belief, the representations made
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wiih respect to savings CAG has achieved for previous customers fail to include

accounts that have failed to settle.

24. The Website between CAG and Plaintiff is unfair, deceptive and misleading

because it fails to advise that if the customer fails to make timely payments, their

creditors may charge new fees and interest on their outstanding accounts.

25. Prior to August of 2010, Defendant Credit Alliance Group Inc. withdrew by direct

deposit funds from the Plaintiff's checking account into their own account.

Subsequent to August of 2010, the Defendant withdrew funds from the Plaintiff's

checking account into an account controlled by Credit Alliance Services, Inc., a

company owned and operated by the same individual, Shane Garner, that owns

and operates Credit Alliance Group Incorporated.

B. T~A A T.

26. On July 29, 2009, the Plaintiff, Deborah Sumlin, visited and reviewed the

Website.

27. Plaintiff agreed to the terms of use and agreed to pay a sum certain per month to

Defendant Credit Alliance Group. Inc. Her agreement included a consultation

with a Senior Credit Specialist, Brian Joyce.

28. Defendant CAG assigns a Senior Credit Specialist to each client.

29. The Agreement Plaintiff eniered into with Defendant Credit Alliance Group

indicates the company is an Experian Company. Experian is one of the three

large credit reporting agencies.

30. Defendant Credit Alliance Group sent an agreement to the Plaintiff, which stated

the following:
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Credit Alliance Group congratulates you on taking control of your financial
future. Thank you for allowing us io provide you with the most effective
solution io your debt elimination needs. As a valued CreditAIlianceGroup
client, you can be assured that all your questions and concerns will be
answered during the entire process as we help you regain control of your
personal finances. CreditAllianceGroup will make this as easy and
painless as possible. You have taken the first sieps to moving forward in
life leaving this debt behind you. We will be here to assist you every step
of the way.

31. The Agreement specifies the following:

The Company fCredit Alliance Group] will respond, or assist the Client in
responding, to any communication between Client and Client's enrolled creditors.
Upon verification from client, of funds availability, COMPANY will facilitate
negotiation and settlement of CLIENT'S enrolled credit accounts.

32. Credit Alliance Group took money from Plaintiff and Class Members prior to

performing any services on their behalf in violation of the Credit Repair

Organizations Act.

33. Plaintiff's contract. with the Defendant Credit Alliance Group, states as follows:

The first (3) three payments go toward the service fees. Starting with the
fourth (4'") payment, half of payment goes toward your service fees until
the CAG fees are paid in full. The remaining half will be deposited into an
FDIC insured escrow account. Once the CAG fees are paid in full,
payments will be applied to your escrow account until all creditors are
settled. In the event you decide to exit the program early the escrow
account funds will be paid to a Client approved creditor.

34. Defendant Credit Alliance Group withdrew an amount from Plaintiff's checking

account beginning on August 21, 2009 prior to Defendant performing services for

Plaintiff.

35. Plaintiff contributed money to CAG, by way of direct deposit from her checking

account. CAG withdrew money from Plaintiff's checking account. for over one

year until and including October of 2010 when Plaintiff stopped their withdrawals.
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36. However, Plaintiff's agreement with CAG states that "the first three payments go

toward the service fees. Starting with your fourth (4'") payment, half of payment

goes toward your service fees until the CAG fees are paid in full. The remaining

half will be deposited into an FDIC insured escrow account.

37. The contract Plaintiff signed with Defendant Credit Alliance Group required her to

contribute money to Credit Alliance Group prior to Defendant, Credit Alliance

Group performing any services on her behalf and as such were collected in

violation of the Credit Repair Organizations Act, Credit Repair Services Act, and

the North Carolina Unfair and Deceptive Trade Practices Act.

38. Defendant Credit Alliance Group prevents Plaintiff and Class Members from

learning the true harm they are doing to their credit rating, credit history, and debt

escalation by requiring them to pay nineteen (19) dollars a month for a Module

which directs calls placed to the Plaintiff directly to CAG.

39. The contract Plaintiff and Class Members sign with CAG states the following:

We also provide our DAAN Phone Module which will put a stop to those
harassing collection calls for good; without. you having to say a word. This
feature allows you to answer the phone after the device has been
activated and simply press your star (") key to forward any creditor calls to
our Client Relations Team.

40. The agreement Plaintiff signed with the Defendant Credit Alliance Group required

Plaintiff to pay for a "Collection Call Protection Program." The "Collection Call

Protection Program" includes the CAG/DAAN Module which is sent to the Class

Members with instructions to attach the Module to their home phone. The Class

Members are instructed to press a button on the module to forward any calls

from their creditors directly to CAG, thereby preventing Plaintiff and Class

10

Case 3:11-cv-00154-MOC -DSC Document 1 F i led 03/30/1 1 Page 10 of 28

From Arti
cle at G

etO
utO

fDebt.o
rg



Members from learning any arrangement made by the Defendants with the

Plaintiff's and Class Members' creditors and CAG's failure to take action on the

Plaintiff's and Class Members' behalf.

41. The agreement Plaintiff signed with the Defendant failed to include the following

disclosures:

a. 'Consumer Credit File Rights Under State and Federal Law

You have a right to dispute inaccurate information in your credit report
by contacting the credit bureau directly. However, neither you nor any
"credit repair" company or credit repair organization has the right to have

accurate, current, and verifiable information removed from your credit
report. The credit bureau must remove accurate, negative information
from your report only if it is over 7 years old. Bankruptcy information can
be reported for 10 years.

You have a right to obtain a copy of your credit report from a credit
bureau. You may be charged a reasonable fee. There is no fee, however,
if you have been turned down for credit, employment, insurance, or a
rental dwelling because of information in your credit report within the

preceding 60 days. The credit bureau must provide someone to help you
interpret the information in your credit file. You are entitled to receive a
free copy of your credit report if you are unemployed and intend to apply
for employment in the next 60 days, if you are a recipient of public welfare
assistance, or if you have reason to believe that there is inaccurate
information in your credit report due to fraud.

You have a right to sue a credit repair organization that violates the
Credit Repair Organization Act. This law prohibits deceptive practices by
credit repair organizations.

You have the right to cancel your contract with any credit repair
organization for any reason within 3 business days from the date you
signed it.

Credit bureaus are required to follow reasonable procedures to ensure
that the information they report is accurate. However, mistakes may occur.

You may, on your own, notify a credit bureau in writing that you dispute
the accuracy of information in your credit file. The credit bureau must then
reinvestigate and modify or remove inaccurate or incomplete information.
The credit bureau may not charge any fee for this service. Any pertinent
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information and copies of all documents you have concerning an error
should be given to the credit bureau.

If the credit bureau's reinvestigation does not resolve the dispute to

your satisfaction, you may send a brief statement to the credit bureau, to
be kept in your file, explaining why you think the record is inaccurate. The
credit bureau must include a summary of your statement about disputed
information with any report it issues about you.

The Federal Trade Commission regulates credit bureaus and credit
repair organizations. For more information contact:

The Public Reference Branch
Federal Trade Commission
Washington, D.C. 20580'.

42. The agreement Plaintiff signed with Defendant, Credit Alliance Group, failed to

include the following disclosures:

1) the terms and conditions of payment, including the total amount of
all payments to be made by the consumer to the credit repair organization
or to any other person;

2) a full and detailed description of the services to be performed by
the credit repair organization for the consumer, including 

(A) all guarantees of performance; and

(B) an estimate of 

(i) the date by which the performance of the services (to be
performed by the credit repair organization or any other person) will be
complete; or

(ii) the length of the period necessary to perform such services;

(3) the credit repair organization's name and principal business
address; and

(4) a conspicuous statement in bold face type, in immediate proximity to
the space reserved for the consumer's signature on the contract, which
reads as follows: 'You may cancel this contract without penalty or
obligation at any time before midnight of the 3rd business day after the
date on which you signed the contract. See the aitached notice of
cancellation form for an explanaiion of this right.'

12
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43. The agreement Plaintiff signed with the Defendant, Credit Alliance Group, failed

to include the following:

a form, in duplicate, which has the heading 'Notice of Cancellation' and
contains in bold face type the following statement:

'You may cancel this contract, without any penalty or obligation, at any

time before midnight of the 3rd day which begins after the date the
contract is signed by you.

To cancel this contract, mail or deliver a signed, dated copy of this
cancellation notice, or any other written notice to (name of credit repair
organization) at (address of credit repair organization) before midnight on

(date)

I hereby cancel this transaction,

( date )

( purchaser's signature ).

44. The agreement between CAG and Plaintiff and Class Members is unfair,

deceptive and misleading in that the agreement states "the client understands

the services of the Company may have a negative short term impact on some

clients and credit reports." This statement is deceptive and misleading as the

program offered by CAG is certain to have a negative impact on clients and a

negative impact on credit reports.

45. The agreement between CAG and Plaintiff and Class Members is unfair,

deceptive and misleading in that the agreement fails to clearly or reasonably

advise Plaintiff and Class Members that CAG will not make payments to creditors

until adequate funds exist in the "escrow account" to begin settlement

negotiations.
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46. The agreement between CAG and Plaintiff and Class Members is unfair,

deceptive and misleading in that the agreement fails to clearly and reasonably

advise Plaintiff and Class Members that, upon information and belief, the "FDIC

insured escrow account" is an account held under CAG's control and accrues

interest going to the benefit of CAG, rather than Plaintiff or the Class Members.

47. The agreement between CAG and Plaintiff and Class Members is unfair,

deceptive and misleading because the representations made with respect to past

results CAG has achieved for previous customers fail to include customers who

had dropped out of or failed to complete the program.

48. The agreement between CAG and Plaintiff and Class Members is unfair,

deceptive and misleading because the representations made with respect to

savings CAG has achieved for previous customers fail to include accounts that

have failed to settle.

49. The agreement between CAG and Plaintiff is unfair, deceptive and misleading

because it fails to advise that if the customer fails to make timely payments, their

creditors may charge new fees and interest on their outstanding accounts.

50. The agreement between CAG and Plaintiff and Class Members is unfair,

deceptive and misleading because ii fails to advise the customer what portion of

debts, fees and/or interest are included in the calculation of service fees charged.

51. The Agreement contains an Arbitration clause which states:

If there is any dispute arising out of this Agreement, the parties agree io
submit thai dispute to binding arbitration under the auspices of the
American Arbitration Association (AAA). If such arbitration is held under
the auspices of any other organization, the arbitration will be held in
accord with AAA rules to the extent possible. Binding arbitration means
that both parties give up the right to a trial by jury by the arbitrator.

14
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52. Such arbitration agreements are procedurally and substantively unconscionable

and unenforceable under North Carolina law in that, infer alia, the Agreement, io

the extent it may be deemed a contract at all, is a contract of adhesion because,

among other reasons, it is a standardized form, imposed and drafted by CAG,

which is a party of vastly superior bargaining strength, and relegates to the

consumer only the opportunity to adhere to it or reject it, and because it leads to

overly harsh results for consumers and prevents consumers from having a

meaningful opportunity to redress their grievances.

53. Such arbitration agreements are null, void and unenforceable according to the

Credit Repair Organizations Act and North Carolina Credit Repair Services Act.

CLASS ACTION ALLEGATIONS

54. Plaintiffs incorporate all previous allegations as though fully set forth herein.

55. Plaintiffs bring this action as a class action pursuant to Rule 23 of the Federal

Rules of Civil Procedure.

56. CROA expressly provides for the maintenance of class actions. 15 U.S.C. g

1679(g). Plaintiff brings this case individually and as a class action pursuant to

Rule 23(b)(3) of the Federal Rules of Civil Procedure on behalf of a proposed

class as follows:

All United States residents who, at any t ime prior to the f ive years
following the filing of this action, purchased any "consumer" or "personal"
service from the Defendants and who (a) paid in advance of any service
before such service was provided or fully performed; or (b) did not receive
the disclosures described in 15 U.S.C. g 1679c; or (c) did not receive a
written contract with terms as described in 15 U.S.C. g 1679d; or did not
receive a cancellation form and other information described in 15 U.S.C. g
1679e.

15
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Excluded from the class definition are: (a) Defendants and any of their officers,

directors, and employees and any successors or assigns of same; (b) any person

who has a pending suit against a Defendant for any claims asserted herein or

who has compromised such a claim; (c) any current or former person that

purchased any "consumer" or "personal" service from the Defendant who

subsequently has undergone personal bankruptcy; and (d) any judicial officer

hearing this action and their families through the third degree of relationship.

57. Class actions are recognized under ihe North Carolina Unfair and Deceptive

Trade Practices Act. Plaintiff brings this action individually and as a class action

pursuant to Rule 23(b)(3) of the Federal Rules of Civil Procedure on behalf of a

proposed class [the "NC Class"] defined as follows:

All North Carolina residents who, at any time prior to the five years
following the filing of this action, purchased any "consumer" or "personal"
service from the Defendants and who (a) paid in advance of any service
before such service was provided or fully performed; or (b) did not receive
the disclosures described in 15 U.S.C. g 1679c; or (c) did not receive a
written contract with terms as described in 15 U.S.C. g 1679d; or did not
receive a cancellation form and other information described in 15 U.S.C. g
1679e.

Excluded from ihe class definition are: (a) Defendants and any of their officers,

directors, and employees, and any successors or assigns of same; (b) any

person who has a pending suit against a Defendant for any claims asserted

herein or who has compromised such a claim; (c) any current or former person

that purchased any "consumer" or "personal" service from the Defendant who

subsequently has undergone personal bankruptcy; and (d) any judicial officer

hearing this action and their families through the third degree of relationship.

58. The members of the CROA class are similarly situated to Plaintiff.

16
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59. The members of the NC class are similarly situated to Plaintiff.

60. The CROA class consists of thousands of persons.

61. The NC class consists of hundreds of persons and may reach over a thousand.

62. Common questions of law and fact exist with respect to the CROA class. They

include:

a. Whether Defendants are a Credit Repair Organization as defined in the

CROA;

b. Whether Defendants charged fees or received payment for services to

class members prior to fully performing the services;

c. Whether the Defendants provided to the class members the necessary

disclosure forms pursuant to CROA;

d. Whether the Defendants provided CROA compliant written disclosure

forms as required by CROA;

e. Whether the Defendants provided class members with a copy of the

cancellation forms as required by CROA;

f. Whether Defendants made or used any untrue or misleading

representations of and about the services of the Defendants and/or

whether Defendants engaged in directly and/or indirectly in acts, practices,

and/or courses of business that deceive or attempt to deceive Plaintiff and

other similarly situated consumers in connection with the offer and/or sale

of services of the Defendants, and in particular, as those representations,

acts, practices and/or courses of business are set forth in, without

limitation, in the paragraphs set forth above;

17
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g. Whether CROA's statutory damages provisions apply to the claims of the

Class members;

h. Whether Defendants were unjustly enriched by their conduct.

63. Common questions of law and fact exist with respect to the NC class. They

include:

a. Whether Defendants are Credit Repair Businesses as defined in the North

Carolina Credit Repair Services Act ["CRSA"];

b. Whether Defendants charged fees or received payment for services to

class members prior to fully performing the services;

c. Whether the Defendants provided to the class members the necessary

disclosure forms pursuant to CRSA;

d. Whether the Defendants provided CRSA compliant written disclosure

forms as required by CRSA;

e. Whether Defendants made or used any untrue or misleading

representations of and about the services of Defendants and/or whether

Defendants engaged in directly and/or indirectly in acts, practices, and/or

courses of business that deceive or attempt to deceive Plaintif'f and other

similarly situated consumers in connection with the offer and/or sale of

Defendants' services, and in particular, as those representations, acts,

practices and/or courses of business are set forth in, without limitation, in

the paragraphs set forth above;

f. Whether UDTPA's statutory damages provisions apply to the claims of the

Class members;
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g. Whether Defendants were unjustly enriched by their conduct.

64. The common issues of law and fact of the CROA and NC Class Members are

very similar and are the most significant issues in the case. These common

issues predominate over any individual issues, and they can be resolved for all

members of the CROA class and NC class in one action.

65. Plaintiff's claims are typical of the claims of the CROA Class Members and NC

Class Members. The factual and legal bases for the claims are similar.

66. Plaintiff will fairly and adequately represent the interests of the CROA Class and

NC Class in that:

a. Plaintiff's interests do not conflict with those of the Class Members.

Plaintiff does not have any relationship with any of the Defendants except

as a consumer of and purchaser of the services as described.

b. Plaintiff and her attorneys have adequate legal and financial resources to

prosecute this action diligently. Plaintiff's counsel can advance the costs of

this action.

c. Plaintiff's attorneys are competent and experienced in class action

litigation.

d. A class action is the superior method for adjudicating the claims asserted

herein, and a class action will provide a fair and efficient method of

adjudicating this controversy. The management of this litigation as a class

action will not present any undue difficulties. The claims asserted herein

are negative value" claims (it would cost more to litigate them individually

than could be recovered individually), making prosecution of the claims in
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separate actions by individual members of the class financially

impracticable. Separate prosecution of the claims would also be

burdensome and inefficient for Counsel and the Court.

COUNT I — DEFENDANTS' VIOLATIONS OF THE CREDIT REPAIR
ORGANIZATIONS ACT

67. Plaintiff incorporates the allegations above as though fully set forth herein.

68. Plaintiff and Class Members are "consumers" as defined in 15 U.S.C. g

1679(a)(1).

69. Defendants are "credit repair organizations" as defined in 15 U.S.C. g

1679a(3)(A).

70.1n violation of 15 U.S.C. 1679b(a)(4) of the Credit Repair Organizations Act, CAG

engaged, directly or indirectly, in an act, practice, or course of business that

constituted or resulted in the commission of, or an attempt to commit, a fraud or

deception on persons in connection with the offer or sale of the services of a

credit repair organization.

71. By concealing and failing to disclose their taking of consumers initial payments

and doing so before services were performed in violation of 1679b(b) of the

Credit Repair Organizations Act, CAG made misleading and untrue statements

about their services as credit repair organizations and undertook practices,

and/or courses of business that constituted or resulted in the commission of, or

attempts to commit, frauds or deceptions against consumers in connection with

the offer or sale of the services of such credit repair organizations in violation of

15 U.S.C. 1679b(a)(3) and 1679b(a)(4) and of the Credit Repair Organizations

Act.
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72. CAG's violations were willful and made with full knowledge of their deceitful

nature.

73. In violation of 15 U.S.C. 1679b(a)(3) of the Credit Repair Organizations Act, CAG

made or used untrue or misleading representations of their services as credit

repair organizations.

74. Defendants' violations of 15 U.S.C. 1679b(a)(3) were willful and made with full

knowledge of their deceitful nature. In addition, Defendants' violations have been

pervasive, persistent, and longstanding.

75. CAG is a credit repair organization that charged and received from plaintiffs and

Class Members money from the performance of services which it. agreed to

perform, before such services were fully performed.

76. CAG has violated 1679b(b) of the Credit Reporting Organizations Act, and

Plaintiffs and Class Members have suffered resulting damages in the amount of

all up-front fees and all monthly service fees charged by, and paid to, CAG.

77. In violation of 15 U.S.C. 1679c(a) and (b) of the Credit Repair Organizations Act,

CAG failed to provide Plaintiff and Class Members with a written statement,

separate from any written contract, describing their credit file rights in the manner

prescribed by the Credit Repair Organizations Act, and disclosing that:

a. You have the right to sue a Credit Repair Organization that violates the
Credit Repair Organizations Act. This law prohibits deceptive practices by
credit repair organizations.

b. You have the right to cancel your contract with any credit repair
organization for any reason wiihin 3 business days from the date you
signed it.

c. The Federal Trade Commission regulates credit bureaus and credit repair
organizations. For more information contact:

The Public Reference Branch
Federal Trade Commission
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Washington D.C. 20580

78. CAG also failed to maintain a signed statement from the Plaintiff and the Class

Members acknowledging receipt of the foregoing statement in their files for 2

years, in violation of 15 U.S.C. 1679c(c )(1) and (2) of the Credit Reporting

Organizations Act.

79. CAG failed to give Plaintiff and Class Members a copy of the disclosure

statement required under 15 U.S.C. g 1679e(c ).

80. Based on the facts alleged in this Count, CAG has violated the Credit Repair

Organizations Act, and Plaintiff and Class Members are entitled to recover all

fees charged by and paid to CAG. CAG's violations in this regard have been

pervasive, persistent and longstanding.

COUNT II — DEFENDANTS' VIOLATIONS OF NORTH CAROLINA'S CREDIT

REPAIR SERVICES ACT
{North Carolina Subclass Only)

{Violation of North Carolina's Credit Repair
Services Act, N.C. Gen Stat. g 66-220 et seq.)

81. Plaintiff incorporates the previous allegations as though fully set forth herein.

82. Plaintiff and Class Members are "consumers" as defined in N.C. Gen Stat. g 66 

221.

83. Defendants are "credit repair businesses" as defined in N.C. Gen. Stat. g 66-221.

84. Pursuant to N.C. Gen Stat. g 66-225(d), Defendants have the burden to show

they are not governed by the North Carolina Credit Repair Services Act;

85. Defendants violated the North Carolina Credit Repair Services Act as described

above and as follows:
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a. Defendants failed to comply with N.C. Gen Stat. g 66-222 by obtaining the

required surety bond;

b. Defendants received money from Plaintiff and Class Members prior to full

and complete performance of the services promised in violation of N.C.

Gen Stat. g 66-223(1);

c. Defendants made untrue and misleading statements to Plaintiff and Class

Members in violation of N.C. Gen Stat. g 66-223(5);

d. Defendants failed to provide Plaintiff and Class Members with disclosures

as described in N.C. Gen Stat. g 66-224.

86.As a result of Defendants' violations of North Carolina's Credit Repair Services

Act., Plaintiff and Class Members have suffered damages as described below.

COUNT III — UNFAIR AND DECEPTIVE TRADE PRACTICES

(North Carolina Subclass Only)
(Violation of North Carolina's Unfair and Deceptive

Trade Practices Act, N.C. Gen Stat. g 75-1.1, et seg.)

87. Plaintiff incorporates the previous allegations as though fully set forth herein.

88. This cause of action is brought pursuant to the North Carolina Unfair and

Deceptive Trade Practices Act, N.C. Gen Stat. g 75.1, et seq., ("UDTPA").

89. Defendants' conduct violates the UDTPA in the following ways:

a. Defendants' acts complained of herein possess the tendency or capacity

to mislead, or create the likelihood of deception;

b. Defendants' acts complained of herein violate public policy, amount to an

inequitable assertion of its power and position, are immoral, unethical,

oppressive, unscrupulous, and/or substantially injurious to consumers;

and
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c. Defendants' acts complained of herein are unconscionable.

90. The unfair and deceptive acts of Defendants complained of herein were

committed willfully.

91. The unfair and deceptive acts of the Defendants complained of herein were acts

and practices that. affected commerce.

92.As a result of Defendants' violations of UDTPA, Plaintiff and members of the

North Carolina subclass paid excessive amounts of money for services and paid

excessive fees, and thereby suffered actual injury proximately caused by

Defendants' conduct.

93. Plaintiff and members of the NC Class are therefore entitled to:

a. An Order requiring CAG to cease its unfair and deceptive trade practices

alleged herein;

b. An Order enjoining CAG from continuing its unfair and deceptive trade

practices upon North Carolina consumers;

c. Compensatory damages;

d. Treble damages pursuant to N.C. Gen Stat. g 75-36;

e. Pre-judgment interest at the highest rate allowable by law; and

f. Payment of their attorney's fees and costs.

COUNT IV — CONVERSION

94. Plaintiff incorporates the previous allegations as though fully set forth herein.

95. Plaintiff and Class Members own and have the right to possess the money in

their bank accounts.
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96. Defendant Credit Alliance Services, Inc.["CASI "] wrongfully withdrew money from

the Plaintiff and Class Members bank accounts by direct deposit beginning in

July of 2010.

97. Plaintiff and Class Members never authorized or consented to allow CASI to

withdrawal of funds from their bank accounts.

98. Defendant CASI interfered with Plaintiff's and Class Members possession of their

money and wrongfully converted the funds by withdrawing funds from the

Plaintiff's and Class Members' bank accounts without their authorization or

consent.

COUNT V — UNJUST ENRICHMENT

99. Plaintiff incorporates the previous allegations as though fully set forth herein.

100. By their misleading and deceptive acts as described above, Defendants

unjustly received a benefit at the expense of Plaintiff and Class Members.

101. It is unjust to allow Defendants to retain their profits from its charging of

unlawful and unconscionable fees without providing compensation to Plaintiff and

the Class.

102. Plaintiff and the Class conferred a benefit on the Defendants; the benefit

was not conferred officiously or gratuitously; the benefit is measurable, and

Defendants consciously accepted the benefit.

103. The D efendants acted with conscious disregard for the rights of the

Plaintiff and Class Members.

104. Plaintiff and Class Members are entitled to restitution in an amount to be

proved at trial.
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PRAYER FOR RELIEF

Plaintiff seeks relief as follows:

1. That the Court certify this action as a class action pursuant to Rule 23(b)(3) of

the Federal Rules of Civil Procedure as requested herein.

2. That the Court award damages to Plaintiff and the Class Members pursuant to

the provisions of the CROA. 15 U.S.C. g 1679g provides that Plaintiff and the

Class Members are entitled to recover as "actual damages" any amounts that

they paid to Defendants, and are entitled to recover as "punitive damages" the

sum of "(i) the aggregate of the amount which the Court may allow for each

named plaintiff; and (ii) the aggregate of the amount which the Court may allow

for each other Class Member, without regard for any minimum individual

recovery."

3. That the Court award damages to Plaintiff and Class Members pursuant to the

North Carolina CRSA. North Carolina General Statutes g 66-225 provides that

Plaintiff and the Class Members are entitled to receive "all sums paid to the credit

repair business, and recover any additional damages including reasonable

attorney's fees."

4. That the Court award pre-judgment interest to Plaintiff and to each of the Class

Members.

5. That, pursuant to 28 U.S.C. g 2201 et seq. which is hereby invoked by Plaintiff,

on behalf of the CROA Class, the Court declare that Defendants' solicitation and

sale of their services are subject to CROA and enjoin Defendants from further

activity in violation of CROA; declare Defendants' consumer contracts void; and
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order an accounting, disgorgement, and imposition of a constructive trust upon

monies collected by CAG from Plaintiff and Class Members pending resolution of

this action.

6. That, pursuant to N.C. G.S. g 66-225 which is hereby invoked by Plaintiff, on

behalf of the NC Class, the Court declare that Defendants' solicitation and sale of

iheir services are subject to the CRSA and enjoin Defendants from further activity

in violation of CRSA; declare Defendants' consumer contracts void; and order an

accounting, disgorgement, and imposition of a constructive trust upon monies

collected by CAG from Plaintiff and Class Members pending resolution of this

action.

7. That the Court award compensatory and treble damages pursuant io ihe North

Carolina Unfair and Deceptive Trade Practices Act.

8. Actual damages in an amount according to proof.

9. That the Court award reasonable attorney's fees, costs and expenses of this

action.

10. That the Court order such other and further relief as is appropriate.
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REQUEST FOR JURY TRIAL

Plaintiff requests a trial by jury on all issues.

Dated this 30'" day of March, 2011

SCHWABA LAW FIRM

s/Andrew J. Schwaba
Andrew J. Schwaba
NC Bar No.: 36455
SCHWABA LAW FIRM

525 North Tryon Street
Suite 1600
Charlotte, NC 28202

(704) 331-3938
(704) 331-3939 (fax)
aschwabapcSverdIctnc.com

NICHOLSON 8 SHUMAKER, P.A.

Edward H. Nicholson
NC Bar No. 36123
525 North Tryon Street
Suite 1700
Charlotte, NC 28202

(704) 331-3925 (telephone)
(704) 331-3950 (facsimile)

Attorneys for Plaintiffs
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